UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK
LAWYERS’ COMMITTEE FOR 9/11 INQUIRY,
INC.; ARCHITECTS AND ENGINEERS FOR 9/11
TRUTH; JEANNE EVANS; RICHARD GAGE;
COMISSIONER CHRISTOPHER GIOIA;
DIANA HETZEL; ROBERT MCILVAINE; AND
MICHAEL J. O’KELLY,

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
Plaintiffs,
)
)
v.
) Case No. 1:19-cv-08312-PGG
)
WILLIAM P. BARR, ATTORNEY GENERAL OF
)
THE UNITED STATES; UNITED STATES
)
DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE; AND GEOFFREY
)
BERMAN, UNITED STATES ATTORNEY FOR THE )
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK.
)
)
Defendants.
)

FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT FOR MANDAMUS RELIEF,
INJUNCTIVE RELIEF, AND DISCLOSURE OF GRAND JURY RECORDS
1.

This is an action: A) To petition the District Court pursuant to the First

Amendment of the United States Constitution to release certain grand jury records, and to
request that the District Court release certain grand jury records pursuant to the federal common
law and Fed. R. Cr. P. 6; B) To request injunctive relief to stop an apparent continuing violation
by the United States Attorney’s Office of Plaintiffs’ Right to Petition for Redress under the First
Amendment of the United States Constitution; and C) In the alternative, to compel officers of the
United States to perform a non-discretionary duty under 18 U.S.C. § 3332(a), brought pursuant
to the federal mandamus statute, 28 U.S.C. § 1361, and D) In the alternative, to compel officers
of the United States to perform a non-discretionary duty under 18 U.S.C. § 3332(a), brought
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pursuant to the Administrative Procedures Act (APA), 5 U.S.C. §§ 702, 706.
2.

The officers of the United States sought to be compelled to perform their duty

under 18 U.S.C. § 3332(a) are the Honorable William P. Barr, Attorney General of the United
States, and the Honorable Geoffrey Berman, United States Attorney for the Southern District of
New York. The federal agency sought to be compelled to comply with 18 U.S.C. § 3332(a) is the
United States Department of Justice.
3.

The mandatory duty sought to be compelled is the duty of the United States

Attorney for the Southern District of New York to inform a special grand jury of the Plaintiffs’
report of alleged federal crimes, which report was submitted to the United States Attorney in the
form of Plaintiffs’ Petition and Amended Petition. This duty is specified in 18 U.S.C. § 3332(a)
which states, inter alia, that:
(a) It shall be the duty of each such [special] grand jury impaneled within any
judicial district to inquire into offenses against the criminal laws of the United
States alleged to have been committed within that district. Such alleged offenses
may be brought to the attention of the grand jury by the court or by any attorney
appearing on behalf of the United States for the presentation of evidence. Any
such attorney receiving information concerning such an alleged offense from
any other person shall, if requested by such other person, inform the grand
jury of such alleged offense, the identity of such other person, and such
attorney’s action or recommendation.
18 U.S.C. § 3332(a) (emphasis added).
4.

The Department of Justice has recognized the existence of this duty:

It is incumbent upon any such government attorney to whom it is reported that a
Federal offense was committed within the district, if the source of information so
requests, to refer the information to the special grand jury, naming the source and
apprising the jury of the attorney's action or recommendation regarding the
information.
U.S. Attorneys' Manual, Criminal Resource Manual, § 158.
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5.

This Court has also recognized the mandatory nature of this duty:

18 U.S.C. § 3332(a) creates a duty on the part of the United States
Attorney that runs to the plaintiffs, and the breach of that duty gives the plaintiffs
standing to seek its enforcement. …
To argue, as the government does … that the prosecutor has total
discretion in deciding what information to present to the grand jury flies in the
face of the Act’s legislative history. …
Thus both the language of 18 U.S.C. § 3332(a) and its legislative history
indicate that Congress intended to remove the prosecutor’s discretion in deciding
whether to present information to the grand jury. He retains discretion with
respect to how he acts and what he recommends concerning that information.
In re Grand Jury Application, 617 F.Supp. 199, 201, 205-06 (S.D.N.Y. 1985).

JURISDICTION
6.

This Court has federal question jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C.

§ 1331 (“The district courts shall have original jurisdiction of all civil actions arising under the
Constitution, laws, or treaties of the United States.”).
7.

This Court also has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to the federal mandamus

statute, 28 U.S.C. § 1361 (“The district courts shall have original jurisdiction of any action in the
nature of mandamus to compel an officer or employee of the United States or any agency thereof
to perform a duty owed to the plaintiff.”).
8.

The Plaintiffs each have standing to bring this action as reflected by the facts

alleged herein, as reflected by the facts stated in the declarations of the Plaintiffs attached hereto
as Exhibits 1-7, as reflected by Exhibit 8 hereto, the Plaintiffs’ Amended Petition submitted to
the United States Attorney for presentation to a federal Special Grand Jury, and as reflected by
Exhibit 9 hereto (Columbus Ohio Police/USDOJ Funded Terrorism Early Warning Bulletin),
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each of which nine exhibits is hereby incorporated fully herein by reference for all purposes.

VENUE
9.

Venue is proper in this District pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(e).

Actions where defendant is officer or employee of the United States-(1) In general.--A civil action in which a defendant is an officer or employee of
the United States or any agency thereof acting in his official capacity or under
color of legal authority, or an agency of the United States, or the United States,
may, except as otherwise provided by law, be brought in any judicial district in
which (A) a defendant in the action resides, (B) a substantial part of the events or
omissions giving rise to the claim occurred
28 U.S.C § 1391(e).
10.

The United States Attorney for the Southern District of New York “resides” in the

Southern District for purposes of venue.
11.

The events and omissions and actions and inaction constituting both the federal

crimes alleged in Plaintiffs’ Petition and Amended Petition at issue in this action and relating to
the United States’ Attorney’s failure to comply with his mandatory duty to relay Plaintiffs’ report
of these alleged federal crimes to a federal special grand jury occurred in the Southern District.

PARTIES
12.

Plaintiff Lawyers’ Committee for 9/11 Inquiry, Inc. (hereafter “Lawyers’

Committee”) is a Pennsylvania non-profit corporation. The mission of the Lawyers’ Committee
is to promote transparency and accountability regarding the tragic events of September 11, 2001
(9/11). See Exhibit 1 hereto, Declaration of Lawyers’ Committee Executive Director David
Meiswinkle. The Lawyers’ Committee believes that the family members of the victims of the
tragic crimes of 9/11 have a compelling right to know the full truth of what happened to their
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loved ones on 9/11, and that Congress and the Department of Justice, in order to do their jobs,
have a compelling need to know.
13.

The Lawyers’ Committee has a special interest in the United States Attorney

reporting the evidence submitted in their Amended Petition to a special federal grand jury.
Examination of this evidence by a special grand jury would promote both of the primary goals in
the Lawyers’ Committee’s non-profit mission: transparency and accountability regarding the
tragic events of 9/11. A special grand jury has the power not only to investigate and indict, which
if exercised would promote the goal of accountability, but also to issue public reports regarding
any government malfeasance discovered during the investigation, which would promote the goal
of transparency.
14.

On April 10, 2018, the Lawyers’ Committee delivered to the Office of the United

States Attorney for the Southern District of New York their fifty-four page “Petition To Report
Federal Crimes Concerning 9/11 To Special Grand Jury or in the Alternative to Grand Jury
Pursuant to the United States Constitution and 18 U.S.C. § 3332(a)” (hereafter “Petition”) along
with the extensive scientific and eye-witness testimony exhibits referenced in the Petition, as
well as a cover letter. In the Petition and cover letter the Lawyers’ Committee requested that the
United States Attorney present the information in the Petition concerning alleged federal crimes
to a federal special grand jury pursuant to the United States Attorney’s duty to do so under 18
U.S.C. § 3332(a).
15.

As noted in the Petition, the City of New York has issued over 2,700 death

certificates related to the attacks on the World Trade Center on 9/11. In addition to the murder of
over 2,000 innocent civilians, hundreds of First Responders were also murdered on 9/11 while
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selflessly attempting to save others. Many more First Responders have died subsequent to 9/11
as a result of their exposure to toxic and corrosive air contaminants at Ground Zero while
participating in heroic rescue and recovery work. A number of FBI agents have also been
reported to have died as a result of such exposures. Plaintiffs’ Amended Petition presented to the
United States Attorney extensive evidence heretofore ignored by federal authorities that the
World Trade Center (WTC) Twin Towers (WTC1 and WTC2) and the Salomon Brothers
Building a.k.a. WTC Building 7 (WTC7) collapsed on 9/11 due to the detonation of pre-planted
explosives and/or incendiaries.
16.

On July 30, 2018, the Lawyers’ Committee delivered to the Office of the United

States Attorney for the Southern District of New York their fifty-eight page “First Amended
Petition To Report Federal Crimes Concerning 9/11 To Special Grand Jury or in the Alternative
to Grand Jury Pursuant to the United States Constitution and 18 U.S.C. § 3332(A)” (hereafter
“Amended Petition”), see Exhibit 8 hereto, and incorporated by reference in that Amended
Petition the extensive scientific and eye-witness testimony exhibits referenced in the original
Petition that had already been submitted to the United States Attorney’s Office on April 10,
2018. A cover letter was also submitted with the Amended Petition. In the Amended Petition and
cover letter, the Lawyers’ Committee requested that the United States Attorney present the
information in the Amended Petition concerning alleged federal crimes to a federal special grand
jury pursuant to the United States Attorney’s duty to do so under 18 U.S.C. § 3332(a). The
primary change in the Amended Petition as compared to the original Petition is that three
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additional federal crimes were added to the crimes being alleged in the Amended Petition.1
17.

Plaintiff Richard Gage is an experienced architect who has played a leading role

in the independent multi-year investigation of the causes of the collapse of the WTC towers and
WTC Building 7 on 9/11. Mr. Gage is the founder and President of the non-profit organization
Architects & Engineers for 9/11 Truth. See Exhibit 2. The Lawyers’ Committee’s Amended
Petition submitted to the United States Attorney which is at issue here included substantial
testimony from Mr. Gage and his scientists, engineer, and architect colleagues.
18.

Mr. Gage signed on to the Lawyers’ Committee’s Petition via the Lawyers’

Committee web page after the initial submission of the Petition to the United States Attorney and
thereby joined in the aforementioned Lawyers’ Committee’s request to the United States
Attorney. His name, as an additional supporter of the Lawyers’ Committee’s Petition, was
submitted by the Lawyers’ Committee, along with the names of approximately two thousand
others, to the United States Attorney’s Office in a supplement to the original Petition.
19.

Plaintiff Architects & Engineers for 9/11 Truth (AE) is a non-profit organization,

incorporated in California. Its official address is 2342 Shattuck Ave., Suite 189,
Berkeley, CA 94704. AE is an organization of architects, engineers, and other interested
individuals dedicated to establishing the truth about the events of September 11, 2001. It pursues
its mission by conducting research and educating the public about the scientific evidence related
to the destruction of the three World Trade Center towers and by working with victims’ families

1

The crimes reported in the Amended Petition involve providing material support to terrorists, the killing of federal
agents, terrorist acts transcending national boundaries, and bombings of places of public use and government
facilities. See 18 U.S.C. § 2332f; 18 U.S.C. § 1114; 18 U.S.C.A. § 2332b; and 18 U.S.C. § 2339A. It should be
noted that there is no statute of limitations roadblock to prosecution of any of these specific crimes.
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and other activists to advocate for a new investigation. As of today, 3,243 verified architects and
engineers have signed AE’s petition calling upon the U.S. Congress to open a new investigation.
See Exhibit 2.
20.

At the heart of AE’s work is the deeply held conviction of its leaders and

stakeholders that establishing the truth is essential to achieving justice for the nearly 3,000
people murdered on 9/11 and their families.
21.

AE as an organization also supports the Petition submitted by the Lawyers’

Committee for 9/11 Inquiry, Inc. to the United States Attorney for the Southern District of New
York and AE has authorized the Lawyers’ Committee to add its name as an organization to the
list of Petition signers submitted to the United States Attorney.
22.

AE also joined in the Lawyers’ Committee’s August 30, 2019 application to the

State Department’s Rewards for Justice Program which involved submission to the State
Department of the Lawyers’ Committee’s Petition and evidentiary exhibits thereto related to the
as-of-yet unprosecuted terrorist and other federal crimes related to the use of explosives and
incendiaries to destroy three World Trade Center towers on 9/11.
23.

Plaintiff Jeanne Evans resides in New Hyde Park, NY, and is formerly of

Elmont/Franklin Square NY. She is the sister of FDNY Firefighter Robert Evans who perished at
the World Trade Center September 11, 2001. See Exhibit 3. Robert was her only sibling. Robert
was a FDNY Firefighter, age 36, and was assigned to Engine 33 on Great Jones Street in the East
Village, lower Manhattan. After Robert saw the North Tower hit by American Airlines Fl.11, he
along with the men of Engine 33 and Ladder 9 responded to the attack on The World Trade
Center that day.
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24.

Ms. Evans watched the "breaking news" of the day's events unfold from the first

report in awe, amazement and shock. She couldn't wait to speak with her brother to hear what
he'd been through at the end of the day. That never happened. She watched both the WTC South
Tower and the WTC North Tower implode and felt it was surreal, like an old casino being
demolished in Las Vegas. Less than 2 hours after being hit, 2,966 souls including Robert Evans,
and two 110 story buildings, were gone.
25.

Per documentary video footage filmed that day via Jules and brother Gedeon

Naudet, she was afforded the ability to see her brother Robert and "the guys" in the lobby of the
North Tower, sizing up the situation, getting their orders, their 100+ pounds of gear and heading
up to take care of business and save lives. She received reports thereafter of her brother Robert
and the men of his firehouse E33/L9, being seen and spoken with on various floors throughout
the North Tower.
26.

Ten men from Engine 33 and Ladder 9 were killed that day, including Robert

King of Engine 33, a dear friend of Ms. Evans. FDNY Firefighter Thomas Hetzel of Ladder 13, a
fabulous guy who previously was employed by Ms. Evans also perished that day.
27.

Ms. Evans supports the Amended Petition submitted by the Lawyers’ Committee

for 9/11 Inquiry, Inc. to the United States Attorney for the Southern District of New York and
has authorized the Lawyers’ Committee to add her name to the list of Petition signers submitted
to the United States Attorney.
28.

Plaintiff Christopher Gioia resides in Franklin Square New York. He is a Fire

Commissioner and an Ex-Chief of the Franklin Square and Munson Fire Department. He was
called to duty with the Franklin Square and Munson Fire Department, to assist the Fire
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Department of New York immediately after the attacks on September 11th, 2001 (9/11) in New
York City at the World Trade Center.
29.

In the days, weeks, and months, afterward, the Franklin Square and Munson Fire

Department assisted with the rescue and recovery efforts at ground zero, and which exposed the
Department members to the deadly toxins present in the air and the debris from the fires and the
collapsed buildings. It was something that they were not prepared for, both mentally and
physically. It was a life altering experience for them. Commissioner Gioia is not affected by any
9/11 related illnesses currently, but he is enrolled in the 9/11 Health Program as several of his
friends who were with him at ground zero are now battling 9/11 related cancers.
30.

On 9/11, several of Commissioner Gioia’s good friends and brother firemen were

killed in the line of duty with the F.D.N.Y while operating at the World Trade Center, including:
Firefighter Thomas J. Hetzel, F.D.N.Y. Firefighter Franklin Square and Munson Fire
Department, a close friend; Firefighter Michael Kiefer, F.D.N.Y. former explorer with the
Franklin Square and Munson Fire Department, a close friend; Firefighter Robert Evans,
F.D.N.Y, a close friend; and Firefighter Michael Haub F.D.N.Y. Firefighter Franklin Square and
Munson Fire Department, a close friend.
31.

Commissioner Gioia is currently serving as a Fire Commissioner with the

Franklin Square and Munson Fire Department. It is now his mission in life, as a Fire
Commissioner and an Ex-Chief, and with the backing of a unanimously approved legal
Resolution of Support from the Franklin Square and Munson Fire District on July 24th 2019, to
pursue Justice for his murdered friends, and to get the full truth to be known about the 9/11 WTC
attacks, and the collapse of WTC1, WTC2, and WTC7. Commissioner Gioia believes that those
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responsible for those attacks and the murder of 3000 innocent souls, including his friends, need
to be held to account and brought to justice. Commissioner Gioia and all other First Responders
and their family members have a special interest in seeing this Amended Complaint pursued and
the Lawyers’ Committee’s Amended Petition submitted to a grand jury. The facts and evidence
presented in the Lawyers’ Committee’s Amended Petition to the U.S. Attorney for the grand jury
support the conclusion that First Responders were intended targets of the terrorists/perpetrators
who placed the explosives in the WTC buildings and detonated them at a time when hundreds of
First Responders were in those WTC buildings that were destroyed. Absent a grand jury
investigation and indictments that bring these perpetrators, who remain at large, to justice, First
Responders may again be the intended targets of a similar attack in the future.
32.

Commissioner Gioia supports the Amended Petition submitted by the Lawyers’

Committee for 9/11 Inquiry, Inc. to the United States Attorney for the Southern District of New
York and has authorized the Lawyers’ Committee to add his name to the list of Petition signers
submitted to the United States Attorney. See Exhibit 4.
33.

Plaintiff Diana Hetzel resides in Rockville Centre, NY 11570. She is the widow

of Fire Fighter Thomas J. Hetzel, Ladder #13. They were married over 5 years. Their daughter,
Amanda, was 2.5 years old at the time of 9/11. Tom was a wonderful loving husband who adored
his daughter Amanda. He was a positive person and lover of life who always helped his family,
friends, and neighbors. He dreamed of becoming a firefighter since he was a boy, and at 18,
joined the local volunteer fire department. His dream of becoming a New York City fireman
came true in October 1995 when he was inducted into the NYC Fire Service Academy. After
graduation, Tom went to his dream firehouse, the one located on 85th Street between 3rd Avenue
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and Lexington Avenue in Manhattan. He liked being where the action was!
34.

Tom Hetzel was working his 24-hour shift from the evening of September 10

through the days shift on September 11, 2001. He was called to duty downtown at the World
Trade Center site right after the second plane hit the South Tower at approximately 9:04am.
They were assigned to the South Tower, but ended up operating in the North Tower. Tom's
position that day was the outside vent man (OV), at the Trade Center his job entailed operating
the elevator, bringing firemen up to certain floors and others back down. After the South Tower
fell, Tom was bringing another fire man down when their elevator shook and it got trapped
between floors. Tom and the other firefighter managed to escape the elevator and found a
staircase to descend. The other firefighter managed to escape, but Tom met up with someone
from his company and went down with them, and went missing when Tower One collapsed at
10:29am.
35.

Ms. Hetzel was not notified of Tom being missing until after 10pm on

September11, 2001. Throughout that day she believed that he was working rescuing and saving
people and had no opportunity to reach out to her because the cell phone towers were out. She
eventually reached out to another Fire Department wife. She believed at that time that the other
wife she contacted knew that Ms. Hetzel’s husband and the 9 other men from his truck company
were all unaccounted for, but she didn't want to say so.
36.

Eventually a Lieutenant from Ladder #13/Engine#22 called her to say Tom was

missing. She asked how could a 6'4' guy be missing. She was in shock, not knowing what to say
or how to react. The Lieutenant said he would keep in touch throughout the night and let her
know if they found her husband. Tom was found three weeks after September 11th in a stairwell
12

during the recovery operation. Ms. Hetzel and her daughter, Amanda, will forever have a huge
void in their hearts and home without Tom. They each still seek counseling, and do the best they
can to deal with their new “normal” life. See Exhibit 5.
37.

Plaintiff Robert Mcllvaine is the father of Bobby Mcllvaine. Bobby was killed in

the World Trade Center on 9/11. Bobby is survived by his parents and his brother, Jeff. Before
entering Princeton, Bobby was an honor student who played basketball and soccer at Upper
Dublin High School in Fort Washington, Pa. After excelling in his studies at Princeton, Bob
entered the New York publishing world, working for Random House and Henry Holt & Co.
He eventually moved to Merrill Lynch, where he was assistant vice president for Media
Relations. At the time of his death on 9/11, he had been applying to graduate programs at Penn
and Harvard.
38.

When Mr. McILvaine received word of the Twin Towers being attacked, he, his

wife, and son Jeff weren't overly concerned because Bob did not work at the Towers. He had an
office in the World Financial Centre, just across the street. They later learned, much to their
dismay, that Bob had been in charge of setting up a banking conference at the Towers that
morning. Their worry had become acute by nightfall when Bobby hadn't telephoned, which was
so unlike him, since he called every day.
39.

The next morning they felt compelled to drive to New York and search for him.

They went from hospital to hospital searching for any information on Bobby, but found nothing.
On Thursday, they received word that a body identified possibly as Bobby had been brought to
the morgue. Their hearts fell as they headed there to identity their beloved son. See Exhibit 6.
40.

Bobby's body was identified by dental records. The coroner disclosed that Bobby
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suffered massive trauma to his upper body and face. Based on the injuries that Bobby sustained,
Mr. McILvaine has concluded that Bobby was killed by a massive explosion as he was entering
the WTC North Tower. He was one of the first bodies to be found and identified.
41.

Because of the circumstances of Bobby’s death and because government officials

were not giving direct and complete answers to 9/11 family members regarding what happened
on that day, Mr. McILvaine has felt an on-going need to investigate what really happened at the
WTC on 9/11, an investigation he has pursued to this day for his son, Bobby. Mr. McILvaine
supports the Petition submitted by the Lawyers' Committee for 9-11 Inquiry, Inc. to the United
States Attorney for the Southern District of New York and has authorized the Lawyers'
Committee to add his name to the list of Petition signers submitted to the United States Attorney.
See Exhibit 6.
42.

It is Mr. McILvaine’s belief that if the Defendants are ordered to comply with the

mandate in the Special Grand Jury Statute that they submit the Lawyers' Committee's Petition
evidence to a federal grand jury, the result of such a grand jury investigation regarding the 9/11
related evidence addressed in the Petition will be a better public understanding of the events of
9/11 and possibly disclosure of criminal conduct or government malfeasance, misfeasance, or
nonfeasance not previously known by the public. The resulting public disclosures will provide a
more complete picture of the truth of what happened on 9/11, which will assist Mr. McILvaine
and other family members of the 9/11 victims, in coming to closure regarding this tragedy.
43.

Plaintiff Michael J. O'Kelly resides in Tappan, Rockland County, New York. He

became a member of the New York City Fire Department ("FDNY") in 1981.
44.

Mr. O’Kelly was a member of the FDNY on September 11, 2001. At that time he
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was a Battalion Chief assigned to the Third Division in Manhattan. He was off duty the morning
of September 11 when the World Trade Center ("WTC") Towers collapsed. However, he
thereafter spent more than a month at the WTC debris site while engaged in rescue/recovery
efforts. During that time, he was exposed to the toxic air there.
45.

As a result of his presence on the pile, he developed respiratory problems,

including asthma. This was diagnosed by FDNY doctors. As a result, he was retired on a
disability pension from the FDNY in 2019. He had no respiratory problems prior to 9/11. No
subsequent events caused the respiratory problems he is now experiencing. His current condition
is attributable to the events of 9/11.
46.

The events of 9/11 damaged his health. The events have similarly impacted many

others like himself, both within and outside the FDNY. He wants to see all those responsible for
the events of 9/11 identified and called to account. He does not believe that all such persons have
yet been identified, or that an adequate, complete, full investigation of the events of 9/11 has yet
been conducted. He specifically does not believe that an adequate investigation has been
undertaken with respect to the possibility that pre-planted explosives and/or incendiaries were
used to bring down the WTC Towers and WTC Building 7, despite there being much evidence to
support that premise. He would like to see that evidence presented to a grand jury, especially
since he believes that the explosives used created the toxic environment at the WTC site which
caused his asthma. He seeks justice for himself and others similarly affected by 9/11.
47.

Defendant Geoffrey Berman, United States Attorney for the Southern District of

New York, and an employee of Defendant Department of Justice, is the government official with
the duty to present Plaintiffs’ Amended Petition and evidence to a federal grand jury pursuant to
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18 U.S.C. § 3332(a), and is the official who apparently has interfered with Plaintiffs’
constitutional right to petition the federal grand jury by withholding Plaintiffs’ Amended Petition
from the grand jury. Defendant Berman maintains possession of the grand jury records at issue,
even though those records are owned and ultimately controlled by the United States District
Court.
48.

Defendant William P. Barr, Attorney General of the United States, is Defendant

Geoffrey Berman’s superior and agency head for Defendant Department of Justice, and has the
responsibility under the law to ensure that his agency complies with applicable federal statutes
including 18 U.S.C. § 3332(a), and does not itself violate citizen’s constitutional rights.

FACTS
49.

All of the foregoing paragraphs are incorporated herein by reference.

50.

On April 10, 2018, the Lawyers’ Committee, after several months of research,

investigation, and analysis, including the receipt of extensive testimony from scientists,
architects, and engineers, submitted to the Office of the United States Attorney for the Southern
District of New York their Petition, with accompanying exhibits and a cover letter. The Petition
was submitted in order to report, and to provide factual information and evidence, to the United
States Attorney regarding certain federal crimes that have been committed within the Southern
District of New York on September 11, 2001, and in the months leading up to 9/11, related to the
attacks on the World Trade Center.
51.

In the Petition and in the accompanying cover letter, the Lawyers’ Committee

respectfully requested that the United States Attorney submit the information in the Petition and
its exhibits to a special grand jury that is empaneled or will next be empaneled.
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52.

The Lawyers’ Committee in the Petition and accompanying cover letter reminded

the United States Attorney of his duty pursuant to statute, 18 U.S.C. § 3332(a), to present to a
special grand jury citizen reports of information regarding federal crimes such as that presented
in the Lawyers’ Committee’s Petition.
53.

The Lawyers’ Committee also requested, in its Petition and the accompanying

cover letter, that the United States Attorney, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3332, inform any currently
empaneled special grand jury, and any subsequently empaneled special grand jury, that the
Lawyers’ Committee is the source that reported this information regarding these crimes to the
United States Attorney and provide such grand juries the contact information for the Lawyers’
Committee.
54.

In the July 30, 2018 Amended Petition delivered to the Office of the United States

Attorney, as in the original Petition, the Lawyers’ Committee presented extensive scientific and
eye-witness evidence that explosives were used to destroy three WTC buildings on 9/11. That
evidence included the following:
a) A report in a peer-reviewed scientific journal of independent scientific laboratory
analysis of WTC dust samples showing the presence of high-tech explosives and/or incendiaries
in the form of nanothermite or nanothermate.
b) Testimony of numerous New York firefighters who were 9/11 First Responders that
they heard sounds of explosions and saw explosions on 9/11 at the WTC resembling controlled
demolitions.2 Some reported seeing molten iron like in a foundry, which would not be possible

2

The First Responders reported on 9/11: “Bombs,” “explosions” at the lowest level and the highest level of the
buildings before the collapses, flames being blown out, a “synchronized deliberate” kind of collapse, like a
“professional demolition,” "pop, pop, pop, pop, pop" sounds before the collapses, “low-level flashes,” “three floors
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as a result of fires fueled by building contents and jet fuel alone.
c) Testimony and scientific analysis by numerous architects, engineers, physicists, and
chemists which demonstrates conclusively that the WTC Twin Towers and WTC Building 7
were brought down by use of explosives and incendiaries, not by airplane impacts or the
resulting jet fuel and building fires. This expert analysis and opinion includes technical analysis
of video evidence of the WTC building collapses demonstrating that WTC1 and WTC2 fell at
near free-fall acceleration, while WTC7 exhibited actual free-fall acceleration for approximately
one third of the total collapse time (which would not be physically possible absent use of
explosives and/or incendiaries).
d) Expert analysis of seismic evidence resulting in an expert opinion that explosions
occurred at the WTC towers on 9/11 prior to the airplane impacts, and prior to the building
collapses, which expert analysis was supported by the testimony of WTC janitor William
Rodriguez and other eyewitnesses who reported that they heard, saw, and felt evidence of
explosions in the basement and lobby of WTC1 and WTC2 prior to the WTC plane impacts.
e) Scientific reports and testimony documenting the presence of molten iron at Ground
Zero, which proves that temperatures there were much higher than those that jet fuel fires and
building contents fires could create. The extreme temperatures documented are consistent with
use of the high tech explosive and/or incendiary materials such as nanothermite or nanothermate.
f) Scientific reports and testimony documenting the presence in the WTC dust of

explode,” “the antenna coming down,” like “those implosions on TV,” “popping sounds” and “explosions” “going
both up and down and then all around the building,” “with each popping” “orange and then a red flash came out
of the building” and “go all around the building,” “looked like it was a timed explosion,” “at the very top
simultaneously from all four sides, materials shot out horizontally” before the collapse began, “boom, boom,
boom, boom, and then the tower came down,” and “going all the way around like a belt, all these explosions.
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previously molten iron microspheres in large quantities, as confirmed by electron microscope
analysis of WTC dust samples by both government and independent scientists. It is impossible
for jet fuel fires and office contents fires to create such microspheres but such microspheres
would be expected from the use of nanothermite or nanothermate.
g) Video evidence that shows the ejection during the collapse of WTC 1 and 2
of heavy steel structural elements laterally some distance from these WTC buildings which
would not be possible from a gravity-driven collapse.
h) Scientific analysis, testimony, and government reports confirming sulfidation and high
temperature corrosion of the steel found in the rubble after the collapse of the WTC towers and
WTC 7, a phenomenon not expected in a jet fuel fire and gravity driven collapse, but consistent
with the use of nanothermate.
55.

In the Petition and Amended Petition, the Lawyers’ Committee concludes that the

scientific, video, and eye-witness evidence taken together is conclusive that explosive and/or
incendiary devices that had been pre-placed at the WTC were detonated causing the complete
collapse of the World Trade Center Twin Towers on 9/11, substantially increasing the tragic loss
of life from the 9/11 terrorist attacks. The Lawyers’ Committee states unequivocally that the
evidence permits no other conclusion -- as a matter of science, as a matter of logic, and as a
matter of law.
56.

Notwithstanding the Lawyers’ Committee’s conclusions in this regard,

conclusions supported by numerous scientists, architects, and engineers, the Lawyers’
Committee in the Petition and Amended Petition do not ask that the United States Attorney or a
special grand jury adopt these or any other conclusions. The Lawyers’ Committee simply asked
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the United States Attorney to honor its non-discretionary duty pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3332(a) to
submit this evidence to a special grand jury and allow the special grand jurors to draw whatever
conclusions of their own they find justified after investigating the matter using the substantial
investigative powers and tools the law provides to a special grand jury.
57.

In the Petition and Amended Petition, the Lawyers’ Committee points out that

given the nature of these crimes, they were not committed by a single person acting alone but
rather by several persons acting in concert. The Amended Petition urges that the attention of the
jurors should not be limited simply to the four primary federal crimes alleged, but should include
a full inquiry into the crimes of aiding and abetting and conspiracy, and into those who may be
guilty of these additional crimes, whether or not such parties are principals (direct perpetrators).
58.

The Lawyers’ Committee, in addition to delivering their Petition and exhibits, and

the Amended Petition, to the Office of the United States Attorney, also had delivered to the
Office of the Attorney General of the United States (and to the President of the United States) a
copy of the Amended Petition.
59.

The Office of the United States Attorney did confirm receipt of the Lawyers’

Committee’s original Petition. Plaintiffs’ representatives did obtain a copy of the Amended
Petition stamped with the United States Attorney’s Office security stamp when they hand
delivered the Amended Petition to the United States Attorney’s Office on July 30, 2018.
Subsequently, on November 7, 2018, the U.S. Attorney’s Office sent the Lawyers’ Committee a
letter stating that the U.S. Attorney would comply with 18 U.S.C. § 3332(a). This letter was
signed by Assistant U.S. Attorney (AUSA) Michael Ferrara, Chief of the Terrorism and
International Narcotics Unit at the Office of the U.S. Attorney for the Southern District of New
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York. No details regarding what actions the U.S. Attorney would take were provided.
60.

The Plaintiffs have not received any further written communications from the

Office of the United States Attorney or the Department of Justice. The Executive Director for the
Lawyers’ Committee David Meiswinkle, along with the Lawyers’ Committee Litigation Director
Mick Harrison, did communicate with AUSA Ferrara by telephone in June of 2019 and asked
AUSA Ferrara if he could provide the status of the U.S. Attorney’s action on the Lawyers’
Committee’s Petition and Amended Petition. AUSA Ferrara stated that, because of the secrecy
requirements of Fed. R. Crim. P. 6(e), he could not provide any information beyond the letter
previously provided by the AUSA stating that the U.S. Attorney would comply with 18 U.S.C. §
3332(a). The Plaintiffs thus have no concrete evidence that the Defendants have actually
provided their Petition, Amended Petition, the exhibits to these petitions, or the Plaintiffs’ names
and contact information to a federal special grand jury as required by 18 U.S.C. § 3332(a).
61.

Plaintiff Lawyers’ Committee has also submitted the evidence referenced in their

original Petition and Amended Petition to the State Department’s “Rewards for Justice” (RFJ)
program via Email sent to info@rewardsforjustice.net. On August 30, 2019, the Lawyers’
Committee filed its application for such a reward with the U.S. State Department under the RFJ
Program.
62.

The Lawyers’ Committee has asked to be considered for a reward under the RFJ

program.3 The United States, via this RFJ program, offers rewards or bounties for information

3

The United States Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia Circuit has recognized that an applicant for a
bounty may have special standing to compel performance by the United States Attorney of the duty in 18 U.S.C. §
3332(a). “We emphasize that Mohwish lacks standing because he has failed to identify any cognizable injury, not
because § 3332 is inherently unenforceable at the instance of a private litigant; for example, a person who would be
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leading to the arrest of persons engaged in terrorism (https://rewardsforjustice.net).
63.

The RFJ is the U.S. Department of State's Counter-Terrorism Rewards Program,

and was established by the 1984 Act to Combat International Terrorism, Public Law 98-533
(codified at 22 U.S.C. § 2708). Administered by the State Department's Bureau of Diplomatic
Security, RFJ's goal is to bring international terrorists to justice and prevent acts of international
terrorism against U.S. persons or property. Under this program, the Secretary of State may
authorize rewards for information that leads to the arrest or conviction of anyone who plans,
commits, or attempts international terrorist acts against U.S. persons or property.4
64.

Most RFJ reward offers are for up to $5 million. However, reward offers can

range from under $1 million to up to $25 million. In addition, RFJ can also pay rewards in cases
where there is no prior reward offer, in appropriate circumstances. Since its inception, RFJ has
paid more than $125 million to over 80 individuals for information that prevented international
terrorist attacks or helped bring to justice those involved in prior acts. Reward payment amounts
are based on a number of factors, including, but not limited to, the threat posed by a given
terrorist, the severity of the danger or injury to U.S. persons or property, and the value of the
information provided.
65.

Anyone who provides actionable information that will help favorably resolve acts

of international terrorism against the U.S. anywhere in the world may potentially be eligible for a

entitled to a bounty if a prosecution were initiated might well have standing. Cf. Lujan, 504 U.S. at 573, 112 S.Ct. at
2143.” Sargeant v. Dixon, 130 F.3d 1067, 1070 ( D.C. Cir. 1997).
4
As Plaintiffs’ Petition notes, the detonations of the pre-planted explosive and/or incendiary devices on 9/11 at
the WTC were timed and coordinated with the aircraft attacks on WTC1 and WTC2, and substantially contributed
to the destruction of those three WTC buildings and their contents, and substantially increased the tragic loss of
life that occurred on 9/11.
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reward. If, for example, a terrorist involved in either the planning or execution of an attack
against U.S. persons and/or property is arrested or convicted as a result of information provided
by a source, that source may be eligible for a reward.
66.

In addition, the interests of the organizational plaintiffs here have been further

harmed by the Defendants’ failures to comply with the mandate under 18 U.S.C. § 3332(a)
because of Defendant Department of Justice’s (DOJ) actions to fund local and state terrorism
programs that attempt to discredit the organizational plaintiffs via communications to citizens
from state or local police agencies. Such communications funded by DOJ are highly suspect
under the First Amendment. See, e.g., Exhibit 9, Columbus Ohio Police/DOJ flyer for public
distribution (funded by a grant from the DOJ). This DOJ funded police flyer reflects efforts to
convince citizens that organizations that question the government’s explanation for the 9/11
attacks in any manner that would suggest that “Westerners” could have been involved are to be
treated as suspected terrorists. See Exhibit 9 (page 1 middle column 6th bullet).
67.

Apart from being potentially defamatory, such communications funded by DOJ

not only significantly undercut the ability of nonprofits such as the Lawyers’ Committee and AE
to recruit volunteers and receive financial support, i.e. survive as a nonprofit, but also
substantially impede efforts of the organizational plaintiffs to educate the public regarding 9/11
evidence. The DOJ is not just funding local police attempts to persuade citizens that the
organizational (and individual) plaintiffs are misinformed, these DOJ funded police actions are
actually trying to convince citizens to treat such nonprofits as suspect terrorists who should not
be trusted or listened to at all (except for surveillance purposes).
68.

Such DOJ funded actions will continue to seriously impede the ability of the
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organizational plaintiffs to establish effective lines of communications with the public, local
government, and police agencies in attempting to perform their nonprofit public education
missions regarding 9/11. On the other hand, had the government Defendants here complied with
the mandate under 18 U.S.C. § 3332(a) to present the evidence of use of controlled demolition at
the WTC on 9/11 to a federal grand jury, then the organizational plaintiffs would be substantially
vindicated and these DOJ funded attempts to defame and discredit them could be effectively
countered.

COUNT I:

REQUEST FOR DISCLOSURE OF GRAND JURY RECORDS
PURSUANT TO COMMON LAW RIGHTS, THE COURT’S INHERENT
AUTHORITY, THE FIRST AMENDMENT, AND FED. R. CRIM. P. 6

69.

All of the foregoing paragraphs are incorporated herein by reference.

70.

The records of and regarding any federal special grand jury to which the U.S.

Attorney has submitted any information or documents related to Plaintiffs’ aforementioned
Petition and Amended Petition which Plaintiffs submitted to the U.S. Attorney are records of the
court.
71.

Even when grand-jury materials are in the custody of government attorneys, they

remain the records of the courts, and courts have the authority to decide whether such records
should be made public.
72.

Plaintiffs have a common law right and a First Amendment right to petition (for

redress) the court for access to these grand jury related records, in addition to the right to request
disclosure of grand jury records pursuant to Fed. R. Crim. P. 6(e).
73.

The public has a general right to inspect and copy public records and documents,
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including judicial records and documents, a right that exists pursuant to federal common law and
pursuant to the First Amendment of the United States Constitution.
74.

Grand-jury records, including transcripts of grand jury proceedings, are public

records to which the public, including the Plaintiffs, may seek access.
75.

The district court has common-law supervisory authority over the grand jury.

76.

The district court’s limited inherent power to supervise a grand jury includes the

power to unseal grand-jury materials when appropriate.
77.

The district court has continuing common-law authority over matters pertaining to

a grand jury, including any application to unseal grand-jury materials, in addition to authority to
rule on disclosure of grand jury records pursuant to Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 6(e).
78.

Ministerial records related to a grand jury are not subject to any grand jury

secrecy restrictions imposed by Rule 6(e), at least if properly redacted to protect the identity of
grand jurors and witnesses.
79.

The district court has the inherent power to release even non-ministerial records

of a grand jury in situations not contemplated by Rule 6(e).
80.

The Plaintiffs here request, under the common law, under federal criminal Rule

6(e), and as a First Amendment Petition for Redress, that the District Court release to Plaintiffs
all substantive and ministerial records of any federal grand jury with which the U.S. Attorney has
communicated regarding Plaintiffs’ aforementioned Petition and/or Amended Petition and/or the
evidence submitted by Plaintiffs to the U.S. Attorney in conjunction with their Petition and
Amended Petition, or such subset of such records as the law may allow to be released. The
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Plaintiffs do not request disclosure of any grand jury records that the Court determines might
endanger any witness or member of the grand jury.
81.

In the alternative, the Plaintiffs here request the District Court to release to

Plaintiffs all ministerial records, and such subset of the substantive records as the Court
determines would be appropriate in the reasonable exercise of its discretion, of or regarding any
federal grand jury with which the U.S. Attorney has communicated regarding Plaintiffs’
aforementioned Petition and/or Amended Petition and/or the evidence submitted by Plaintiffs to
the U.S. Attorney in conjunction with their Petition and Amended Petition.
82.

The ministerial records related to the relevant grand jury or grand juries that

Plaintiffs herein request include:
a) Any Order authorizing summons of any Special Grand Jury or Grand Jury in the
Southern District of New York that has or will receive Plaintiffs’ Petition, Amended Petition,
exhibits thereto, or information regarding same;
b) Any Order authorizing extension of any such Special Grand Jury or Grand Jury
referenced immediately above;
c) Roll sheets reflecting composition of any such Special Grand Jury or Grand Jury
referenced immediately above, attendance records of the Jurors, and any substitutions;
d) Any written authority permitting a Special Prosecutor to present evidence to any such
Special Grand Jury or Grand Jury referenced immediately above;
e) Records setting forth the method by which any such Special Grand Jury or Grand Jury
referenced immediately above was empaneled;
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f) Voting records, related to any decision to extend the life of any such Special Grand
Jury or Grand Jury referenced immediately above;
g) All records of disclosure of names of persons receiving information about matters
occurring before any such Special Grand Jury or Grand Jury referenced immediately above; as
defined in Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 6(e)(3)(A)(ii).
h) All other ministerial records related to the relevant grand jury or grand juries which
have received any information from the United States Attorney regarding Plaintiffs’ Petition or
Amended Petition (or that were in session at the time Plaintiffs submitted their original Petition
to the United States Attorney or that have been convened thereafter).
83.

There are special circumstances that warrant the disclosure of the grand jury

records requested herein by Plaintiffs, which special circumstances include:
a) There remains no significant government interest in continued secrecy regarding
whether the U.S. Attorney has submitted to a federal grand jury all or some portion of Plaintiffs’
Petition and Amended Petition and/or the evidentiary exhibits thereto given that the Plaintiffs’
Petition and Amended Petition and the exhibits thereto are not only already known by Plaintiffs,
but these documents and the fact of their submission to the U.S. Attorney, and the U.S.
Attorney’s agreement to comply with 18 U.S.C. § 3332(a) in regard to these submissions by
Plaintiffs, have been publicly disclosed via one or more press releases, one or more media
articles, and on-going availability to the public via the Lawyers’ Committee’s website.
b) Eighteen years have passed since the occurrence of the federal crimes related to 9/11
addressed in the Plaintiffs’ Petition and Amended Petition.
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c) The matters addressed in Plaintiffs’ Petition and Amended Petition submitted to the
U.S. Attorney for submission to a federal special grand jury are of unusual public importance.
d) It would promote public understanding of and confidence in the executive branch, the
Department of Justice, the U.S. Attorney’s Office, and the judiciary, to learn that the evidence
submitted to the U.S. Attorney by Plaintiffs regarding the 9/11 related federal crimes alleged in
the Plaintiffs’ Petition and Amended Petition has finally been presented to a federal grand jury
and is being diligently investigated, particularly in light of the U.S. Attorney’s written assurance
to the Lawyers’ Committee that the U.S. Attorney would comply with the statutory requirements
of 18 U.S.C. § 3332(a) in regard to Plaintiffs’ Petition and Amended Petition. See Attachment to
Exhibit 1 hereto.
e) Given the eighteen years that have passed since the crimes at issue, secrecy is not
required to prevent the escape of those whose indictment may be contemplated.
f) There is no apparent reason why disclosure now of the fact that Plaintiffs’ Petition,
Amended Petition, and exhibits thereto have been presented to a grand jury would interfere with
the freedom of the grand jury regarding its deliberations.
g) There is no apparent reason why disclosure now of the fact that Plaintiffs’ Petition,
Amended Petition, and exhibits thereto have been presented to a grand jury would facilitate
persons subject to indictment or their friends from importuning the grand jurors.
h) There is no apparent reason why disclosure now of the fact that Plaintiffs’ Petition,
Amended Petition, and exhibits thereto have been presented to a grand jury would facilitate
subornation of perjury or tampering with the witnesses who may testify before the grand jury and
later appear at the trial of those indicted by it.
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i) There is no apparent reason why disclosure now of the fact that Plaintiffs’ Petition,
Amended Petition, and exhibits thereto have been presented to a grand jury would discourage
free and untrammeled disclosures by persons who have information with respect to the
commission of crimes.
j) There is no apparent reason why disclosure now of the fact that Plaintiffs’ Petition,
Amended Petition, and exhibits thereto have been presented to a grand jury would result in a
failure to protect an innocent accused who is exonerated from disclosure of the fact that he or she
has been under investigation.

COUNT II:

VIOLATION BY DEFENDANTS OF THE PLAINTIFFS’ FIRST
AMENDMENT RIGHT TO PETITION FOR REDRESS, AND REQUEST
FOR INJUNCTIVE RELIEF

84.

All of the foregoing paragraphs are incorporated herein by reference.

85.

Plaintiffs have a right under the First Amendment not only to petition the Court

for redress and to petition the DOJ for redress, but also to petition a federal grand jury for
redress. The fact that federal procedural law currently states that citizens should not
communicate their information regarding federal crimes directly to a grand jury, but rather effect
such communications through a United States Attorney, does not alter or eliminate Plaintiffs’
constitutional right under the First Amendment to petition a federal grand jury for redress.
86.

Plaintiffs have exercised their First Amendment right, or at least attempted to

exercise this right, to petition a federal grand jury to investigate 9/11 related federal crimes
resulting in the murder of approximately 6,000 citizens (approximately 3,000 on 9/11 and
approximately 3,000 more after 9/11 as a result of injuries and illness incurred on 9/11 and the
aftermath). Plaintiffs did this by submitting their Amended Petition and the evidence referenced
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therein (see Exhibit 8 hereto) to the U.S. Attorney, not only as a petition for redress to DOJ, but
also as a petition for redress under the First Amendment to the grand jury itself, as a government
entity distinct from the DOJ.
87.

Although the U.S. Attorney provided a letter to the Lawyers’ Committee

representing that he would comply with 18 U.S.C. § 3332(a) in regard to the Lawyers’
Committee’s petition submissions, the U.S. Attorney has since refused to disclose any
information at all to the Lawyers’ Committee that would confirm that the U.S. Attorney has in
fact relayed the Lawyers’ Committee’s Amended Petition and evidence to a federal grand jury.
88.

Plaintiffs can only infer from this complete refusal by the U.S. Attorney to

disclose even the minimum information needed to show Plaintiffs that their Amended Petition
was relayed to any of the grand juries that have been empaneled at the time of the Lawyers’
Committee’s submissions or since, that the U.S. Attorney has failed to submit the Lawyers’
Committee’s Amended Petition to any grand jury.
89.

Such a failure of the U.S. Attorney constitutes not only a failure to perform the

mandatory duties imposed on the U.S. Attorney by 18 U.S.C. § 3332(a), but also constitutes a
violation of Plaintiffs’ First Amendment Right to Petition (the grand jury) for Redress. The
Plaintiffs, and all citizens, may, or may not, have a right under law to get an answer from the
Grand Jury under the First Amendment, but Plaintiffs like all citizens certainly have the right to
have their petition for redress delivered to the government entity from which they seek redress.
90.

Whether or not the Congress may require citizens, consistent with the First

Amendment, to submit their communications to a grand jury only through a U.S. Attorney, at a
minimum it should be clear that neither the Congress nor the U.S. Attorney may obstruct the
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delivery of a citizen petition to a grand jury. The U.S. Attorney has here, on information and
belief, in light of the U.S. Attorney’s silence on the matter and continuing exclusive control over
the grand jury records and process to date, obstructed Plaintiffs’ right to petition the grand jury
for redress in violation of the First Amendment.
91.

Plaintiffs respectfully request injunctive relief from the Court to end this

obstruction and to require the U.S. Attorney to honor the Plaintiffs’ rights to petition the grand
jury (through the U.S. Attorney pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3332(a)).

COUNT III: MANDAMUS RELIEF PURSUANT TO 28 U.S.C. § 1361
92.

All of the foregoing paragraphs are incorporated herein by reference.

93.

In order to grant a request for mandamus a court must find that three requirements

are satisfied: (1) a clear right in the plaintiff to the relief sought; (2) a plainly defined and
peremptory duty on the part of the defendant to do the act in question; and (3) no other adequate
remedy available. Lovallo v. Froehlke, 468 F.2d 340, 343 (2d Cir. 1972), cert. denied, 411 U.S.
918 (1973); In re Grand Jury Application, 617 F.Supp. 199 (S.D.N.Y. 1985).
94.

As this Court has held in regard to the first requirement, 18 U.S.C. § 3332(a)

establishes a clear right in the Plaintiffs here, who provided to the United States Attorney, via
their Amended Petition, substantial evidence and information relating to alleged (and apparent)
federal crimes, to have the United States Attorney provide their information regarding such
crimes to a special grand jury. In re Grand Jury Application, 617 F.Supp. 199, 201, 206
(S.D.N.Y. 1985).
18 U.S.C. § 3332(a) creates a duty on the part of the United States
Attorney that runs to the plaintiffs, and the breach of that duty gives the plaintiffs
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standing to seek its enforcement. … 18 U.S.C. § 3332(a) creates a right in every
person to have information known by them concerning organized crime to be
presented to the grand jury.
Id.
95.

This Court has also held that the second requirement for mandamus relief, a

plainly defined and peremptory duty on the part of the defendant, is established by 18 U.S.C. §
3332(a). This Court has held that:
18 U.S.C. § 3332(a) creates a duty on the part of the United States
Attorney that runs to the plaintiffs …
Thus both the language of 18 U.S.C. § 3332(a) and its legislative history
indicate that Congress intended to remove the prosecutor’s discretion in deciding
whether to present information to the grand jury.
In re Grand Jury Application, 617 F.Supp. 199, 201, 206 (S.D.N.Y. 1985).
96.

In regard to the third and last requirement for mandamus relief, that Plaintiffs

have no other adequate remedy available, that requirement is also satisfied here as there is no
other legal vehicle for compelling the United States Attorney to provide Plaintiffs’ Amended
Petition information to a special grand jury, with the possible exception of a mandamus relief
request under the APA, which Plaintiffs include infra as an additional claim.
97.

As stated supra, the United States Attorney has refused to provide to the Lawyers’

Committee any details regarding the status of the United States Attorney’s action on Plaintiffs’
Petition and Amended Petition, including whether or not the United States Attorney has actually
provided a special grand jury with these documents and their exhibits, or not. As a result, the
United States Attorney may have, and Plaintiffs have concluded, on information and belief, that
the United States Attorney here has, unlawfully withheld, in violation of his clear duty pursuant
to 18 U.S.C. § 3332(a), the action requested by Plaintiffs, pursuant to their statutory (and
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constitutional) right, that the United States Attorney provide to a special grand jury the
information in Plaintiffs’ Amended Petition and Exhibits regarding alleged federal crimes that
have been committed in the Southern District of New York. Should the disclosure of grand jury
records as sought in this Complaint, or a disclosure of information pursuant to order of the court,
demonstrate to the contrary, then the Plaintiffs’ mandamus claim stated in this count will be
moot (i.e. this count is brought as a contingent claim or claim for alternative relief which will
only be pursued by Plaintiffs if there is no disclosure showing that the United States Attorney has
in fact provided Plaintiffs’ Amended Petition and exhibits to a special grand jury).
98.

Consequently, Plaintiffs are entitled to a writ of mandamus and order from this

Court mandating that the United States Attorney provide Plaintiffs’ Amended Petition to a
special grand jury and inform the special grand jury of the Plaintiffs’ identity.

COUNT IV: MANDAMUS RELIEF PURSUANT TO THE ADMINISTRATIVE
PROCEDURES ACT
99.

All of the foregoing paragraphs are incorporated herein by reference.

100.

The APA provides for suits against federal agencies and officials, including

claims for mandamus type relief.
A person suffering legal wrong because of agency action, or adversely affected or
aggrieved by agency action within the meaning of a relevant statute, is entitled to
judicial review thereof. An action in a court of the United States seeking relief
other than money damages and stating a claim that an agency or an officer or
employee thereof acted or failed to act in an official capacity or under color of
legal authority shall not be dismissed nor relief therein be denied on the ground
that it is against the United States or that the United States is an indispensable
party. The United States may be named as a defendant in any such action, and a
judgment or decree may be entered against the United States: Provided, That any
mandatory or injunctive decree shall specify the Federal officer or officers
(by name or by title), and their successors in office, personally responsible for
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compliance … .
5 U.S.C. § 702 (emphasis added). In an action under the APA, “The reviewing court shall-(1) compel agency action unlawfully withheld or unreasonably delayed … .” 5 U.S.C. § 706.
101.

As stated supra, the United States Attorney has refused to provide to the Lawyers’

Committee any details regarding the status of the United States Attorney’s action on Plaintiffs’
Petition and Amended Petition, including whether or not the United States Attorney has actually
provided a special grand jury with these documents and their exhibits, or not. As a result, the
United States Attorney may have, and Plaintiffs have concluded, on information and belief, that
the United States Attorney here has, unlawfully withheld, in violation of his clear duty pursuant
to 18 U.S.C. § 3332(a), the action requested by Plaintiffs, pursuant to their statutory (and
constitutional) right, that the United States Attorney provide to a special grand jury the
information in Plaintiffs’ Amended Petition and Exhibits regarding alleged federal crimes that
have been committed in the Southern District of New York. Should the disclosure of grand jury
records as sought in this Complaint, or a disclosure of information pursuant to order of the court,
demonstrate to the contrary, then the Plaintiffs’ mandamus claim stated in this count will be
moot (i.e. this count is brought as a contingent claim or claim for alternative relief which will
only be pursued by Plaintiffs if there is no disclosure showing that the United States Attorney has
in fact provided Plaintiffs’ Amended Petition and exhibits to a special grand jury).
102.

Consequently, Plaintiffs are entitled to an order from this Court mandating the

United States Attorney to provide Plaintiffs’ Amended Petition and Exhibits to a special grand
jury and inform the special grand jury of the Plaintiffs’ identity in order to remedy agency action
unreasonably delayed or withheld and that is arbitrary and capricious.
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PRAYER FOR RELIEF
103.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs respectfully request this Court to:

a)

Disclose, or Order the U.S. Attorney or Clerk of Court to disclose, to Plaintiffs all

ministerial records, and such subset of the substantive records as the Court determines would be
appropriate in the reasonable exercise of its discretion, of or regarding any federal grand jury
with which the U.S. Attorney has communicated regarding Plaintiffs’ aforementioned Petition
and/or Amended Petition and/or the evidence submitted by Plaintiffs to the U.S. Attorney in
conjunction with their Petition and Amended Petition, including any transcripts of testimony by
witnesses or presentation of evidence by the United States Attorney and any documents
presented to the grand jury that were provided to the United States Attorney by Plaintiffs as or
with their Petition or Amended Petition;
b) In the event no disclosure is made or such disclosure as is made does not demonstrate
that the United States Attorney has provided Plaintiffs’ Amended Petition and exhibits and
supplements to a special grand jury, Order the Defendants to:
1) Inform a federal special grand jury of the alleged federal offenses identified and
described in Plaintiffs’ Amended Petition and provide to such special grand jury Plaintiffs’
Amended Petition and all supplements thereto including all the exhibits referenced therein
(which were provided to the United States Attorney by Plaintiffs);
2) Inform such federal special grand jury of the identity of the Plaintiffs and the other
Petition signers, and their contact information; and
3) Inform such federal special grand jury of the government attorney’s action or
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recommendation on Plaintiffs’ Amended Petition.
c) Order the Defendants to keep the Plaintiffs reasonably and timely informed as to when,
to what extent, and in what manner the Defendants have submitted the Plaintiffs’ Petition,
evidence, and names and contact information to a special grand jury so that Plaintiffs will be able
to determine whether Defendants have complied with their mandatory duty under 18 U.S.C. §
3332(a).
d)

In the alternative, provide Plaintiffs’ Amended Petition and exhibits directly to a

federal special grand jury, in lieu of ordering the United States Attorney to do so.
e)

Award Plaintiffs their reasonable attorney fees incurred in prosecuting this action

pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 2412 and/or other applicable law; and
f)

Grant such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper.
Respectfully submitted,

/s/ Mick G. Harrison
Mick G. Harrison, Esq. (Pro Hac Vice)
520 S. Walnut Street, #1147
Bloomington, IN 47402
Phone: 812-361-6220
Fax: 812-233-3135
E-mail: mickharrisonesq@gmail.com

/s/ John L. O’Kelly
John L. O’Kelly, Esq. (7147)
127 Bengeyfield Drive
East Williston, New York 11596
Phone 516-248-3338
Fax- 516-742-0203
jokelly@optonline.net

Dated: March 20, 2020
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